
                                                    
Economic Development Commission 

Monday, September 12, 2011 
Town of Windham Meeting Room 

Special Meeting Minutes 
  
 
Commission Members present: Bill Hettinger – EDC Chairman, Victor 
Funderburk, Bob Horrocks, & Bill Anderson 
 
Commission Members absent: Eric Crowley   
 
Town Staff: James Finger, Town Planner, Sharon Vernon, recording 
secretary. 
 
Call to order: Chair Bill Hettinger called the meeting to order at 7:31 pm 
 
Citizens & Delegations: 
 
None 
 
Review & Approval of minutes: 
 
Bob Horrocks made a motion to accept the EDC minutes of July11, 2011. Bill 
Hettinger seconded the motion, and all members present approved.  
 
Old Business: 
Discussion of tax abatement & deferral guidelines: 
 
Chairman Hettinger asked Bill Anderson to give the EDC members an update 
on his research of tax abatement & deferral guidelines.  Bill replied that he 
had a discussion with the Town Controller Tom Pesce & the Town Assessor 
Joan Paskewich on Friday on the different tax abatement programs that 
were already in existence.  Bill added that he wanted to clarify that there is 
a difference between abatement and deferral and the programs that we have 
now are deferral programs which means that if someone improves or 
rehabilitates a property, the improvement will not be added to the assessed 
value right away.  So the assessment for taxes on the improvement will be 
deferred over a period of time. The programs that are in place right now are 
typically over a 7 year period, the first year 100% not taxed and then it goes 



down and eventually the business owner will end up by paying taxes after 
the 7 years is up.  
 
There are a couple of other programs in place right now, the Enterprise 
Zone, Entertainment District and a rehab area program. We are looking to 
come up with a plan to use for negotiating deferrals or assessment 
guidelines that the EDC would recommend to the Town Council on what we 
would think would be a good deferral based upon the economic impact 
analysis that the developer would present to us. We need to define this and 
the process that we would go through for the existing programs because 
there isn’t any clear documentation on all of the various steps. We know that 
in the past, the Economic Development Director was authorized to certify 
that certain applications to the assessor’s office qualified for deferrals. But 
now that Ted Montgomery is no longer with us, we need to find out who is 
responsible for this process.  Bill Hettinger added that we (Tax Study Group) 
have another meeting with the staff on September 30th to deal with the rest 
of the issues. Some discussion followed on this and housing rehab incentive 
programs.   
 
Bob Horrocks commented that we should inform the community on the tax 
deferral programs that may be available to them.  
 
James Finger replied that we could help promote the town and alert people 
to the various state incentives. We could also encourage and help people 
through the process to apply for the programs that they may be eligible for. 
He added that we have to be careful that we are not providing an incentive 
to a duplication of service. For example, if a new business came into town 
and wants to compete we should be careful not to provide too many 
incentives because that could give them an unfair advantage over existing 
businesses – and that would be against the American economic system. 
James added that the sub-committee realizes how complicated this process 
is and needs more time to work on the issues.  
 
Bill Anderson clarified that the sub-committee won’t be ready with the final 
presentation until the EDC’s November meeting. 
 
James also mentioned that the town sent out a newsletter to the community 
and that he had written an update for the PZC and EDC. He also stated that 
he called DECD to ask for more details on the Entertainment District and is 
waiting to hear back from them. 
 
The Chairman passed out a draft document that Bill Anderson had put 
together on the enterprise zone & entertainment district benefits, negotiated 
assessments etc. 



Chair Report: 
 
Bill Hettinger asked James Finger if he had heard back from Neal Beets on 
the Commission’s recommendations for crosswalks & business signage.  
James said he would ask him. James added that he found earlier 
correspondence from Jean de Smet regarding directional signage for the 
downtown district from the D.O.T. in 2009, but we are now asking for a new 
letter from the new commissioner and he said he hasn’t heard back on that 
yet. (follow-up item) 
 
Chairman Hettinger  gave a follow-up report on the South Windham 
Industrial park. He added that he asked for information on the property and 
sent it to the economic development people of North East Utilities to put out 
to their commercial, industrial park, broker-type people to get some 
feedback on that property and the concept. Bill added that he has not heard 
back from them yet and due to all of the power outages he doesn’t expect to 
for awhile but will follow-up with Tom Marrano. Bill also stated that he met 
with Mark Waterhouse from Garnet Consulting to discuss his take on that 
property. Mark Waterhouse said he had walked the site several years ago 
with Ted Montgomery. According to Bill - Mr. Waterhouse didn’t feel that 
office space would be a good use for that site.  However, he liked the fact 
that it had rail service and said that was a plus.  
 
Some discussion followed on the New England Central Railroad. (Runs 
between Vermont to New London). James Finger stated that the economic 
development rep from the New England Railroad sent him some contact 
information and Joe Gardner will follow-up on that. 
 
Victor Funderburk & Bob Horrocks both spoke about the possibilities of 
making the South Windham site more attractive and then finding a way to 
market it. There was also some discussion on how to get a water source 
onto the site, how much it would cost the town and is it a good investment. 
Victor asked how we would find out about the cost, James replied that Joe 
Gardner our Town Engineer had received a preliminary price about 5 years 
ago, but that would have to be updated. 
 
Other reports/correspondence/announcements/activities 
New Business: 
 
Chairman Hettinger referred to material that James Finger had passed out in 
a packet to the EDC members on Section 10 of the Code of ordinances on 
the Rehabilitation area again to review; an article on Fast Company.com, 
and a leaflet on WINCOG Cadastral Data Center. He then asked James to 
give an update on these documents.  



 
James explained  that Fast Company.com is about a community that set up 
a way for local investors to set up a private development agency where they 
would take investments (venture capital) from people to help small local 
businesses start up or expand a business. James added that he thought 
Thread City Development might be interested in this concept. For more 
information on this article go to: 
http://www.fastcompany.com/1771064/locavesting-investing-in-main-
street-instead-of-wall-street  Minor discussion followed. 
 
Chairman Hettinger asked James what the status of the Salvation Army was. 
James replied that the last that he knew they were looking at a site here in 
town. He also stated that they were diligently working on the details of the 
lease and hope to sign an agreement in October. (un-named property not to 
be released yet)  
 
Bill asked James if he had heard anymore about the Sears store in 
Mansfield, James replied that they have vacated the building and he has not 
heard back from them. He added that PETCO will be moving into that 
vacated site and also an ice cream dairy store (Farmer’s Calfe) in the former 
Karate shop at the south end of the complex. James also added that he did 
speak with them a couple of months ago and provided them with some 
possible properties to look at; but none of them fit their needs as far as 
loading, space etc. 
 
Bob Horrocks commented that he had heard that a gourmet cupcake shop 
may move into the back basement of Rajeans on Riverside Drive. And a New 
York Deli may move into the former Swift Waters building.  
 
Chairman Hettinger asked James what the status of the revised planning & 
zoning regulations were. James explained that the area of Northridge Drive 
on up to Tractor Supply and (a little beyond that) has been changed to a 
commercial classification where retail is permitted by right. They outlined 
several uses that are permitted and a few special uses & whatever is 
consistent with that.  The PZC also modified the parking requirements town-
wide and to allow the Zoning Officer to determine the amount needed for 
each use. James added that this modification should be a help to all 
businesses in town. The PZC added  provisions to allow apartments in the 
upper-stories by right in the older buildings and in the newer buildings by 
special permit. They can also be put on the first floor as long as it’s not in 
the front portion of the building facing Main Street – or the primary street.  
 
Victor asked if there was a role that the EDC could play to let the community 
know about these zoning changes and encourage them to develop the 



apartments. James replied that we could certainly promote the zoning 
revisions and alert Main Street property owners of the changes. Chairman 
Hettinger suggested that we send out letters to these business owners 
alerting them of the zoning revisions and also possibly the enterprise zone 
regulations in case they are eligible because of improvement on their 
properties. 
 
Some discussion followed on the Willimantic Waste Paper Company project.  
James stated that they have some logistical issues because their business 
has grown so much. These will involve relocating some of their operations 
onto the property they acquired from CC Lounsbury that was approved for 
the Lowe’s store. 
 
James Finger informed the Commission that the EDC’s membership to 
CEDAS has been renewed and they offer training programs to us on business 
retention and expansion. He passed out the CEDAS fliers to the EDC 
members for the info. Some discussion followed on past trainings & 
workshops and the benefit of being CEDAS members. 
 
James stated that there is a link on the Town of Windham’s website 
homepage to WINCOG’s website that provides access to geographic 
information for properties in Town: http://www.wincog-gis.org/.  He 
explained that you can zoom onto Windham properties and get a satellite 
image.  
 
The Windham Region GIS & Cadastral Data Center has two primary 
objectives: to assist member towns in the on-going development of their 
digital tax parcel maps & databases and to develop a regional website to 
host geographic information online in an easy-to-use format.  The overall 
goal is to facilitate coordinated planning across disciplines and municipal 
boundaries by increasing access to municipal mapping information through 
an online interface.  More information can be obtained by contacting Jana 
Butts Senior planner/GIS Coordinator. Email is: planner@wincog.org  
 
James also mentioned that he passed out an old document on marketing and 
will update the section the “Town of Windham’s homepage and economic 
development section”.  He stated that they have already made some 
changes and will put up info on the enterprise zone and that we are an 
urban jobs tax credit community and that there are opportunities to 
manufacturers.  James added that the EDC needs to re-establish the 
business visitation program. 
 
James then reported that the realtor for Keeper Corporation contacted him 
and said that the people from the motorcycle place in the next town were 



still interested in speaking to us again. He added that he forwarded his email 
and contact information to them but has not heard back yet. 
 
Chairman Hettinger asked James if he knew how the Windham Mills 
incubator was doing. James replied that he thought it was doing well and 
that he couldn’t give him a qualified report.  The chairman suggested that 
the EDC do a visitation to the Windham Mills Property Management office to 
see how they were doing, and also follow-up with the realtor to Keeper 
Corporation & South Windham Giant Vac property. 
 
Bob Horrocks inquired if anyone knew how much was rented at the 560 Main 
Street building. James replied that he had heard about 20%. Bob also added 
that he had heard that many apartments were rented to college students. 
Chairman Hettinger asked James Finger to email Mr. Schooley to see what 
the status of the project was and to see if there was any needed assistance 
from the EDC on their next project.  James replied that he thought they may 
be interested in a tax deferral on renovations on their next project at 699 
Main St – the old Hurley Men’s Store building. Some discussion followed on 
this. 
 
Victor Funderburk reported that the state arts council’s project on economic 
development has gone into chaos. He’s not sure what’s going to happen and 
will keep us posted. 
 
Victor also stated that Windham Theater Guild was having another dinner 
show this week. Victor added that they have done more than 50 shows -
which is good for the community. Victor asked if there was a way we could 
get  some of the downtown businesses to stay open later in the evening so 
that people can have somewhere else to go before the show besides a 
restaurant.  
 
Chairman Hettinger suggested doing a survey with the patrons to see what 
type of activities they would be interested in. Then this survey could be 
shown to the business owners. James suggested that they go online to 
http://www.willimanticusa.com/  or the Willimantic Renaissance 
http://www.willimanticstreetfest.com/wri.htm to get activity ideas. He also 
suggested having more matinee shows because some people don’t like to be 
out at night. Some discussion followed. 

Victor spoke some on trying to attract major businesses into our town – as 
there is a great need for employment. Chairman Hettinger replied that we 
need to have all of our marketing data about Willimantic and it’s work force 
up-to-date so that it’s available for companies and the site selection process. 
James replied that we are in a disadvantage with the larger communities and 



he also stated that he has learned at recent training programs that they 
typically say to work with what you already have, work with your existing 
businesses to make them more efficient. 

Bob Horrocks asked if anyone was working with the Jamaican Restaurant. 
James stated that he has met with them and referred them to Roberta 
Dwyer at North East Alliance and urged them to get some business 
counseling at the Small Business Development Center to work on a business 
plan so they can get a loan. 

Some discussion followed on the fact that Rogers Corporation has been 
vacant for 10 years. 

Citizens & Delegations: 

None 
 
Adjournment: 
 
Victor Funderburk made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Bob Horrocks 
seconded the motion.  All members were in favor.  Motion carried. Meeting 
adjourned at 9:27 pm. 
 
Minutes respectfully submitted by: Sharon Vernon – revised by James Finger 
 
 
 


